

#### **CONTENTS**

INTRODUCTION	1
SECTION I: OVERVIEW OF THE METAVERSE	2
SECTION II: METAVERSE USE CASES I THE FINANCIAL SERVICES INDUSTRY	N 4
Data Visualization	4
Virtual Trading	4
Digital Twins and the Industrial Metaverse	5
Payments	5
Training and Collaboration	6
Investor Education	6
Customer Solicitation and Service	7
SECTION III: POTENTIAL CHALLENGE AND RELATED FACTORS	S 7
Challenges	7
Resource Needs	7
Data Privacy and Protection	8
Cybersecurity	8
(De)centralization and Interoperability	8
SECTION IV: REGULATORY CONSIDERATIONS	9
SECTION V: REQUEST FOR COMMENTS	9

#### INTRODUCTION

The term "metaverse"<sup>2</sup> has attracted significant attention and curiosity in recent years from the media, entertainment and technology sectors. Though the term has no concrete definition, and interpretations may differ, the metaverse is generally viewed as the next evolution of today's internet.<sup>3</sup> For the purposes of this report, the term "metaverse" refers to virtual worlds that are immersive and interactive and may be experienced in new ways through technological developments in hardware and software.<sup>4</sup> Metaverse environments may include digital spaces using various techniques to allow individuals to engage in social or business activities through the internet or other networked platforms.<sup>5</sup>

To date, gaming platforms have been at the forefront of metaverse adoption, but companies are developing other entertainment and business applications. 6 According to one estimate, the global metaverse revenue opportunity could approach \$800 billion in 2024 versus about \$500 billion in 2020.7 Moreover, the metaverse is expected, by some, to contribute over \$3 trillion to global Gross Domestic Product (GDP) by 2031.8 According to one estimate from the World Economic Forum, 15 percent of the digital economy is already moving to the metaverse, with projections of metaverse activity, led by gaming and e-commerce, reaching 700 million people worldwide by the end of the decade. Market professionals have also noted that financial institutions have significant opportunities to invest and participate in the metaverse going forward, given the likelihood of increased desire for digital engagement from future generations of investors. 10 In fact, several major financial institutions indicated they have already begun exploring the metaverse to build more immersive online environments to engage with the next generation of customers and to enhance their operations. 11 Government bodies around the world (as well as international organizations) have similarly started focusing on the metaverse, including evaluating its possibilities, the attendant risks and the potential impact on the financial industry.<sup>12</sup>

In light of the growth of the metaverse and its potential to play a meaningful role in the future of the financial industry, staff from FINRA's Office of Financial Innovation (OFI), which is part of the Office of Regulatory, Economics and Market Analysis (REMA), launched a research initiative focusing on the opportunities and risks that the metaverse may present for the industry. This initiative led to the publication of this report. As part of our research, OFI staff engaged with more than two dozen stakeholders, including securities firms and other financial institutions, hardware and software providers, academics, industry observers, and government entities.

This report summarizes the main findings of our research:

- **Section I** provides a brief overview of the metaverse, including market trends.
- **Section II** identifies and analyzes the potential applications for the metaverse that the securities industry is exploring.
- Section III addresses potential use cases, challenges and related factors associated with the metaverse.
- **Section IV** outlines potential regulatory considerations.

This report is intended to raise awareness among FINRA member firms and the broader securities industry by providing an overview of how developments related to the metaverse may impact business models and processes. While the true implications of the metaverse may not be known for years, this report is designed to serve as an initial step in beginning an important dialogue with market participants about potential use of the metaverse within the securities industry. Accordingly, FINRA requests comments on all areas of this report.<sup>13</sup>

#### SECTION I: Overview of the Metaverse

One financial institution described the metaverse as a "seamless convergence of our physical and digital lives, creating a unified, virtual community where we can work, play, relax, transact and socialize."<sup>14</sup> At least one prominent international body similarly expressed that the metaverse is not a single space, but rather, a "collection of shared digital spaces for real-time interaction and activities—a continuum that blends digital worlds with the physical world"<sup>15</sup> that "can be experienced synchronously and persistently by an effectively unlimited number of users with an individual sense of presence and with continuity of data."<sup>16</sup> Certain industry observers explain that fundamental characteristics of a metaverse include an immersive and persistent experience, connectivity to other users and a sense of presence.<sup>17</sup> Others believe that a "proper" metaverse also includes aspects such as spatial boundlessness, <sup>18</sup> decentralization and interoperability.<sup>19</sup>

According to some analyst reports, over three billion people reportedly accessed some version of a metaverse daily. In addition, 70 percent of U.S. consumers say their digital identity is as important as their real-life identity, and 95 percent of business leaders expect the metaverse to have a positive impact on their industry within the next five years.<sup>20</sup> This impact is already starting to take root, with approximately 60 billion messages reportedly sent between users on the immersive online gaming platform, Roblox, every day.<sup>21</sup> GDP for Second Life, an online multimedia platform where users can create avatars, reportedly reached \$650 million in 2021.<sup>22</sup>

The technology driving experiences within the metaverse include:

- Virtual Reality (VR): a fully immersive three-dimensional (3D) simulation of images, using computers and wearable devices such as head-mounted displays—smart goggles or headwear that can be strapped around one's head—to replace or occlude a user's physical environment (e.g., a recreation of ancient Rome);
- Augmented Reality (AR): an overlay of digital computer graphics on top of a real-world visualization (e.g., a car windshield that displays upcoming traffic conditions); and
- ▶ Mixed Reality (MR): an interactive blend of a real-world experience with digitally created content allowing users to experience simulated experiences within their physical environments and to manipulate and interact with virtual elements in real time (e.g., a surgeon repositioning a 3D image of a patient's heart in her virtual workspace). <sup>23</sup>

These VR, AR and MR technologies are all components of the concept known as extended reality (XR), which serves as an umbrella term to describe different types of systems that may comprise various metaverse environments. As discussed below, developments in these environments have been influenced by changes in the computer gaming industry, demographics and hardware systems.

- Computer Gaming: Today's most popular metaverse platforms (e.g., Roblox, Fortnite) are computer gaming environments. According to one estimate, approximately 87 percent of Generation Z polled indicated that they are actively engaged in gaming. With a total value of over \$200 billion, the gaming sector is larger than movies and music combined.<sup>24</sup> Time spent in the metaverse has also reportedly been on the rise; for example, the number of daily active users for Roblox has grown from about 14 million in 2018 to about 78 million in Q1 of 2024.<sup>25</sup> Market participants are also exploring social engagement systems that entice users to spend more time in other types of virtual spaces via gamified incentives that are not obviously "games."<sup>26</sup> The gamification trend that started on mobile devices is also present in immersive metaverse spaces, fueled by targeted advertising and features such as leaderboards and loyalty points.<sup>27</sup>
- ▶ Demographics: Market participants have noted that the younger generations—Generation Z and Generation Alpha—are the driving force behind metaverse adoption.<sup>28</sup> While older generations, such as Baby Boomers and Generation X, may still use phones to communicate with friends and family, their younger cohorts may make less phone calls and instead use their devices to connect with others over text, video and voice within metaverse spaces. Commercial enterprises recognize this and are "meeting them where they are" by introducing brand awareness within virtual platforms.<sup>29</sup> For instance, one yoga brand has sold more digital yoga pants in the metaverse than in the physical world.<sup>30</sup> This may come as no surprise, considering that 52 percent of Gen Z reportedly better identify with their avatars than their real-life selves.<sup>31</sup>
- ▶ Hardware: XR hardware technology systems combine space and computational power using an interface accessed through devices such as smartphones, head-mounted displays, tablets and smart glasses.<sup>32</sup> Advances in computing power and XR hardware have been catalysts for metaverse adoption. Nearly 80 percent of hardware within XR headsets is similar to that for mobile phones; the remaining 20 percent includes expensive advanced optics (e.g., vergence accommodation and eye tracking); motion technology (e.g., inside-out tracking and hand-gesture pattern recognition); and haptics (e.g., sensory gloves and digital scents). The largest hinderance to XR hardware adoption may be linked to the need for more advanced technology and resulting increased price tag.<sup>33</sup>

Industry experts have noted that the metaverse may impact many commercial sectors in some way in the coming years, while some business leaders are already asking their staff to consider developing a metaverse strategy.<sup>34</sup> According to some estimates, by 2025, 25 percent of people will spend at least one hour per day in a work-related metaverse space<sup>35</sup> and, by 2030, the economic impact of the metaverse is expected to reach \$5 trillion, including the various live events that will occur in these spaces.<sup>36</sup> Even further into the future, another study found that 54 percent of the industry polled expects that, by 2035, the metaverse will replace mobile phones as the primary gateway to digital content and, by 2040, the metaverse will be fully refined and immersive such that the internet will be a place that people can spend significant time visiting and exploring each day.<sup>37</sup>

In response to these thematic tailwinds for the metaverse, investors have poured billions of dollars into metaverse projects. There are currently over a dozen exchange-traded funds (ETFs) that thematically invest in only metaverse-related publicly traded companies, including investing in some of the largest technology companies in the world (*e.g.*, Apple, Meta, Alphabet) as well as those that focus specifically on metaverse platforms and virtual modeling (*e.g.*, Roblox, Ansys, PTC).

However, despite the enthusiasm, metaverse adoption may still face challenges in the foreseeable future. These challenges include cost, accessibility of hardware, the ability to build a proper network infrastructure, interoperability, data security and privacy.<sup>38</sup> In addition, operating in a new virtual environment will entail review to ensure compliance with legal and regulatory considerations.<sup>39</sup>

## SECTION II: Metaverse Use Cases in the Financial Services Industry

A segment of financial institutions, including broker-dealers, are actively experimenting with incorporating the metaverse and its immersive technologies.<sup>40</sup> Metaverse technologies can include VR and AR, but these are not the only portals to the metaverse. Users can access virtual worlds through laptops, gaming consoles and phones.<sup>41</sup>

Some firms indicated that they are examining how to leverage metaverse technologies for internal training and staff development. Others noted that they are assessing the potential for metaverse-related marketing and appealing to the next generation of investors, while also considering metaverse applications for other business purposes (*e.g.*, trading, monitoring and surveillance and enhanced data visualization). These may have future implications for communications with customers, internal operations, trading and investment opportunities.<sup>42</sup> Below is a non-exclusive list of areas where the securities industry and related financial markets are considering or exploring potential metaverse-related use cases.

#### **Data Visualization**

Market participants are looking to augment traditional two-dimensional (2D) data visualization techniques using 3D platforms in metaverse environments to improve data consumption, analysis and presentation (*e.g.*, for investor pitches),<sup>43</sup> with richer and more nuanced 3D pictures of applicable data sets. Firms are also exploring data visualization applications within the metaverse to help make complex data sets more visually appealing, enabling teams to more readily grasp trends, patterns and connections.

The metaverse may also impact the way firms present financial information to investors, particularly as advanced and immersive technologies become more readily available. Some market participants noted that using interactive 3D platforms within the metaverse may provide investors with an enhanced view of their financial health, in comparison to static information relying on numbers and written text, by potentially making financial information easier to absorb and remember. Enhanced visualizations may facilitate investors' understanding of concepts such as volatility, diversification, bull and bear markets, and the prospective growth of investments. For example, market participants noted that 3D visualization techniques could potentially be used to show investment gains as a towering building and a loss as a chasm in the ground to present information in an easier to understand format for investors.

## **Virtual Trading**

Some firms are assessing the role that a metaverse environment using VR and AR technology may play in the future of trading. Within a metaverse environment, traders may be able to customize data and research in novel ways, see data in interactive 3D formats, and more readily communicate with colleagues and counterparties. Some third-party providers have indicated that they are already able to offer VR- and AR-based trade blotters, tickets and charts. Firms are also exploring proofs of concept to leverage VR to bring greater efficiency to trading desks. Tor example, one firm's prototype would allow traders to see data presented in multiple tiers that are dynamically updated, and to interact with data using hand gestures and voice commands. However, firms noted that they have not yet implemented any actual virtual trading capabilities, and those exploring these opportunities indicated that they need to fully assess technological, regulatory or other risks.

## **Digital Twins and the Industrial Metaverse**

Digital twins refer to "the digital representation of physical objects."<sup>49</sup> According to some experts, digital twins that are enhanced with immersive, interactive and collaborative features are "the foundation of the enterprise metaverse" as they can allow business assets, processes and people to be recreated virtually in immersive environments.<sup>50</sup> Market participants have noted that recreating or simulating physical environments in the digital world may allow firms to improve decision making, business processes and the quality of their products.<sup>51</sup> While this concept is not new (for example, digital models have been used to run simulations for years), the metaverse offers potential enhancements on ways to develop and interact with digital twins for graphically-enhanced simulation, analysis and monitoring in a range of daily business activities.<sup>52</sup>

For example, one company recently created a digital twin model to guide its return to office strategy during the COVID-19 pandemic.<sup>53</sup> The company gauged its re-opening process by using digital twins to determine capacity questions and scheduling when workers would return.<sup>54</sup> A major financial institution also relied on a digital twin to reduce complexities related to institutional client onboarding.<sup>55</sup> In addition, a stock exchange worked with video game developers to digitally replicate an initial public offering (IPO).<sup>56</sup> Market participants have indicated that digital twins with enhancements available through the metaverse, may provide more efficient ways to run test-case scenarios and can help firms improve how their offices are set up and business operations, as well as enhance situational awareness (such as by conducting cybersecurity tests), identify and prevent fraud and assess human behavior.<sup>57</sup>

## **Payments**

The metaverse offers a potentially lucrative environment for commerce. According to current estimates, there are 37.6 million users spending over \$28 billion per year in the metaverse. As individuals are projected to spend more time in the metaverse, they may potentially be more prone to engage in commerce by purchasing virtual goods. Consumers in the metaverse reportedly hold a total of \$163 billion in value in total digital payments, with a median value of \$500 per user, and an average of over \$7,300, including crypto assets across various metaverse platforms. Bitcoin, Ethereum, and Robux (the main currency for the centralized gaming platform Roblox) are the most commonly held digital payments in the metaverse. They are followed by V-bucks (the digital payment on Fortnite's platform), MANA (the digital payment for Decentraland) and SAND (the digital payment for The Sandbox). Market participants have noted that metaverse users also have a stronger desire to use crypto assets compared to most e-commerce shoppers.

On Roblox, users purchase the Robux digital payment through a process known as a "booking." Bookings, which can be processed via one-time purchases or monthly subscriptions (typically through payment processors or cards), can be used to purchase virtual goods and services on Roblox. In the past year, Roblox saw bookings increase to \$1.12 billion, a 25 percent increase over the previous year. Decentralized platforms also offer users opportunities to purchase virtual items in the metaverse, including skins, emotes, names and land. Two notable examples are The Sandbox and Decentraland, which are Ethereum-based virtual worlds where players can build, own and monetize gaming experiences in economies based on the platforms' native tokens. However, it is important to note that the native tokens for both of these platforms are currently the subject of regulatory scrutiny as to their legal status within U.S. securities law.

Some market participants believe that metaverse payments may further accelerate the trend toward digital commerce and away from physical commerce as a result of fundamental changes in technology that drive how consumers engage with merchants and service providers.<sup>68</sup> If users become more accustomed to conducting financial services in the metaverse, this may ultimately shape how investors wish to interact with financial market professionals, including within the securities industry.<sup>69</sup> In addition, metaverse environments, particularly those involving wearable devices (such as headsets or other devices that connect to the body and gather biometric data), may allow for the collection of far greater amounts of information on users that financial services firms can acquire from data brokers.<sup>70</sup> Such data can be acquired by firms for a variety of uses, including improving customer acquisition and conducting market research.<sup>71</sup>

# **Training and Collaboration**

One study comparing learning within a physical or online classroom environment with learning in a metaverse environment containing immersive virtual spaces found that learners in the metaverse are four times faster to train, nearly three times more confident in applying skills, nearly four times more emotionally connected to content and four times more focused.<sup>72</sup> The study notes that this enhanced learning may be, in part, attributable to a fully immersive learning experience commanding a student's attention and thereby making it less likely for distractions from other devices (e.g., smartphones, desktop computers).<sup>73</sup> Embodied learning helps learners retain information by fortifying the relationship between information delivery and physical and sensory experiences.<sup>74</sup> In addition, some analysts predict that learning in virtual spaces, using VR and AR technologies, may serve as an important part of the next generation of teaching and training methods given the metaverse's potential to provide elements of realism and sustained engagement.<sup>75</sup>

Some firms within the securities industry have already been exploring ways in which the metaverse may provide more effective ways to train staff as well as offer options for collaboration for team members in different physical locations. <sup>76</sup> Market participants have indicated that immersive digital training techniques may offer a new, more efficient and cost-effective way to upskill remote staff in both technical and "soft skills" (e.g., leadership, resilience and management). <sup>77</sup> For example, workers can practice using skills in highly realistic simulations before testing them out in the physical world. <sup>78</sup> Relatedly, some analysts believe that the first major use cases of technologies such as VR will be carried out by employees using devices bought for them by their employer to increase collaboration in remote work, with immersive 3D meetings being more engaging than 2D video calls. <sup>79</sup> Others add that, in the near term, they expect that firms will use metaverse technologies for internal collaboration, meetings and conferences and workforce training. <sup>80</sup>

### **Investor Education**

Extensive research has been written about the economic importance of financial literacy and the need for effective teaching methods around financial services.<sup>81</sup> Accordingly, there is increasing demand for strong financial education programs across the country, which some states mandate must be taught in the classroom to better educate future generations.<sup>82</sup>

Because the metaverse is targeting the same future generations for its user base, it may be one avenue to address demands for more effective financial education. With metaverse technology driven by the popularity of immersive gaming platforms, such as Roblox, as well as the presence of popular and exclusive brands (*e.g.*, Nike, Gucci, Ferrari) on various platforms, the metaverse presents an opportunity to reach—and teach—younger investors in the metaverse.<sup>83</sup> As one observer noted, financial services firms "have a unique opportunity to enter the metaverse and supply financial education, financial well-being [and] brand awareness."<sup>84</sup> By meeting potential future investors in the digital realm for education purposes, firms can seek to keep them engaged through content. With several virtual platforms already having a component of earning and spending in-game currency, firms can leverage the embedded financial element to teach about related concepts, such as savings and investing, while cultivating brand awareness and loyalty.

In 2022, prominent financial services firms began announcing their presence in Decentraland and The Sandbox, as further detailed in the subsequent section. Though these firms reportedly entered the metaverse to pursue different ways to engage with their current, and potential future, investor base, at least one of these firms appears to have created a dedicated entertainment space complete with gamified financial education components.<sup>85</sup> The firm expanded its efforts with additional (and novel) overtures for meeting younger investors in digital spaces, with games on Roblox and Decentraland.<sup>86</sup> The games focus on introducing players on these platforms to financial concepts such as earning, spending, saving and investing as well as a "more mindful approach to money."<sup>87</sup> They are designed to appeal to both young players as well as parents who seek to provide practical financial know-how through entertaining games and characters that mirror levels of investing risk.<sup>88</sup>

#### **Customer Solicitation and Service**

With digital platforms increasingly embedded into daily life (for commerce, communications and entertainment), the metaverse represents a potentially powerful new avenue for financial institutions to reach and engage with the next generation of investors. Some analysts predict that future customers may look to the metaverse, using AR and VR technology, to assist with their financial service needs, including banking, insurance and wealth management. Financial institutions have announced plans to acquire virtual land in a third-party metaverse, while others overseas have actively experimented with opening virtual branches.

As noted, in the U.S. market, firms are seeking a presence in the metaverse to build brand awareness. For example, one firm reportedly aimed to engage with investors in sports and gaming communities by purchasing a plot of land in The Sandbox; others acquired a virtual lounge and a dedicated multi-level design space with digital venues including a dance floor, rooftop sky garden, teleportation mechanism and educational games to teach users about finance. As one of these firms, noted, the way that people engage socially and view finances is changing, and their metaverse strategy is an extension of their social media strategy to engage with younger investors, many of whom rely on social media and gamification to both learn about investing and to actually invest. As

Though one U.S. firm reportedly collaborated with a major technology platform to create a tool to allow customers to discuss stock portfolios with a VR-based financial planner, none of these U.S. firms currently offer investment services directly in the metaverse but may look to do so in the future. However, such efforts largely appear to be only exploratory at this stage and would face a number of regulatory considerations (as noted below), particularly as they pertain to existing rules around the communication of financial advice, risk disclosures, recordkeeping and identity verification that may be applicable.

## SECTION III: Potential Challenges and Related Factors

By offering new ways for financial institutions to engage and interact both internally and externally, the metaverse may provide new opportunities and present novel challenges. For example, market participants have noted that the metaverse may offer new methods to engage with and educate a broader group of investors, particularly younger investors who are beginning their investing journey. The metaverse may also provide ways to improve operational efficiencies through enhanced collaboration within firms. However, several challenges remain, including those related to technology development and adoption as well as risks associated with privacy and cybersecurity. The following section highlights a few challenges and factors that firms may wish to consider as they explore applications on the metaverse or implement a metaverse strategy.

# **Challenges**

#### **Resource Needs**

Firms may wish to consider the types of technological and personnel upgrades they would need to develop and implement a desired metaverse application or an associated metaverse strategy. As part of this process, firms may want to map out their distributed data storage plans for optimal metaverse performance and scalability, as storing data locally may not be possible for live immersive applications that require significant real-time cloud streaming. Depending on the level of sophistication of the metaverse application, firms may also wish to consider the capacity of their current wireless infrastructure to determine whether it is sufficient for the desired application. In addition, firms may want to ensure they have staff with the appropriate skill and expertise to support the development of metaverse-based applications. This may involve hiring properly trained talent and investing the time and expenses to train existing personnel.

#### **Data Privacy and Protection**

Consumers and business leaders list privacy among their top concerns in a future metaverse. Extensive data collection could mean that users have the potential to reveal far more behavioral data, including body language cues, retina tracking and other biometrics. The better the digital representation of a person, the more personal information firms may be able to collect. Firms engaging in metaverse-based interactions may consider whether they have adequate controls to protect their customers' rights and to shield them from bad actors acquiring their personal data. As the metaverse continues to develop, protecting personal information and ensuring ethical use of data may be a significant concern, particularly when virtual environments intersect with real-world personal data. Accordingly, demonstrating sufficient privacy protections, ensuring appropriate recordkeeping and clearly disclosing personal data that is collected and with whom it is shared may be a key feature in promoting trust within various metaverse environments.

#### Cybersecurity

Cybersecurity remains an area of focus within the securities industry and with regulators.<sup>101</sup> Business leaders have also indicated that cybersecurity is their top concern with respect to the metaverse.<sup>102</sup> A recent report highlighting cybersecurity risks within the metaverse noted that, "[w]hile phishing and social-engineering attacks continue to be a top threat vector in our current digital ecosystem, the risk of bad actors impersonating your personal virtual banker/adviser or your boss/colleague and giving you directions to execute malicious tasks in a virtual room only gets compounded in the virtual world."<sup>103</sup>

Apart from the specific cybersecurity challenges noted above, firms may also wish to consider additional risks and ways to enable them to continue to fully comply with their regulatory obligations. These include the increased threat vector potentially caused by introducing any new application to an environment, which data are shared with metaverse applications and whether there exists a potential for data leakage. Firms may assess how metaverse technology, particularly when offered by vendors, are compatible with their own internal operational and compliance systems, and they may examine the entirety of their network segmentation and access controls to ensure that new devices and applications adhere to firm cybersecurity policies. Doing so may help limit the potential for enhanced cybersecurity risk as well as limit other errors and inefficiencies.

#### (De)centralization and Interoperability

There are various other factors that firms may wish to consider when exploring applications on the metaverse or implementing a metaverse strategy, including the trade-offs associated with decentralized and centralized metaverse platforms and the current limitations on interoperability. A centralized metaverse generally refers to a platform that is run by a corporation or similar entity, while a decentralized metaverse generally refers to an environment governed, in varying degrees and in certain respects, by a community and software protocols. Each environment offers its own sets of benefits and risks that firms may wish to consider. Firms may also wish to consider the current limitations associated with interoperability between different metaverse platforms when selecting a platform and determining how to implement a metaverse strategy. Market participants have also noted that, going forward, developers of applications, games and platforms in the various virtual worlds may not see economic incentives or practicalities to achieving true interoperability and there may be friction in this area.

## **SECTION IV: Regulatory Considerations**

In addition to the potential challenges and related factors noted above, member firms should also be mindful of the potential implications to their regulatory obligations as they consider whether to incorporate the metaverse into their internal systems and processes or use this technology within product offerings. FINRA reminds its member firms that FINRA's rules—which are intended to be technology neutral—and the securities laws more generally, continue to apply if member firms use the metaverse in the course of their businesses, just as they apply when member firms use any other technology or tool. Using any given technology does not absolve firms of their regulatory obligations. The specific rules applicable to member firms' use of the metaverse will vary—and could implicate many areas of member firms' regulatory obligations—but will ultimately depend on how member firms deploy the technology. 106

This report is not intended to provide an exhaustive or cumulative list of all factors or regulatory issues associated with the metaverse and related technologies. Moreover, this report does not create any new legal or regulatory requirements or new interpretations of existing requirements, nor does it relieve firms of any existing obligations under federal securities laws and regulations. Member firms may consider the information in this report when developing new, or modifying existing, practices that are reasonably designed to achieve compliance with relevant regulatory obligations based on the member firm's size and business model. Member firms should conduct their own risk assessments regarding the potential regulatory implications of virtual spaces that pertain to their unique use cases and business models.

FINRA welcomes the opportunity to engage with member firms regarding the metaverse and its immersive technologies. To the extent member firms find ambiguity in the application of FINRA rules based on their specific use of metaverse technology, they may seek interpretive guidance from FINRA. Member firms may seek interpretive guidance by following FINRA's process for interpretive requests.<sup>107</sup>

# **SECTION V: Request for Comments**

FINRA welcomes comments on this paper, including input from financial industry market participants who are currently exploring metaverse technology or have identified other use cases in the securities industry.

Comments are requested by **March 14, 2025**. Member firms and other interested parties may submit their comments using the following methods:

- online using FINRA's comment form for this paper;
- emailing comments to <u>pubcom@finra.org</u>; or
- mailing comments in hard copy to:

Jennifer Piorko Mitchell Office of the Corporate Secretary FINRA 1700 K Street, NW Washington, DC 20006

To help FINRA process comments more efficiently, persons should use only one method to comment on the proposal.

**Important Notes:** All comments received in response to this paper will be made available to the public on the FINRA website. In general, FINRA will post comments as they are received.<sup>108</sup>

Direct inquiries regarding this paper to:

- ► Haimera Workie, Vice President, Office of Financial Innovation (OFI), at (202) 728-8128 or Haimera.Workie@finra.org;
- Jacob Yunger, Director, OFI, at (202) 728-8253 or <u>Jacob.Yunger@finra.org</u>; or
- Alex Khachaturian, Director, OFI, at (202) 728-8275 or Alex.Khachaturian@finra.org.

#### **ENDNOTES**

- The views and opinions made in this report are those of the authors and do not represent official views or policies of FINRA. This report does not express any official FINRA legal position and does not create any new regulatory requirements or suggest any change in any existing regulatory obligations, nor does it provide relief from any existing regulatory obligations. This report summarizes key findings from FINRA's outreach and research on the potential impact of the metaverse and related immersive technologies, in the financial services industry, and does not endorse or validate the use or effectiveness of any of these applications. While this report highlights certain regulatory areas that FINRA members may wish to consider, it does not cover all applicable regulatory requirements or considerations. FINRA encourages all member firms to conduct a comprehensive review of all applicable securities laws, rules and regulations to determine potential implications including any regulatory implications of the metaverse.
- Throughout this report, the terms metaverse, immersive digital experiences, virtual spaces, virtual reality (VR), augmented reality (AR), extended reality (XR), and mixed reality are all used. Each term has different meanings and can be viewed as different components of persistent, immersive, engaging online environments, though we will use the term "metaverse" most often. There is not a single metaverse, nor does the metaverse imply an interoperable online space like the internet or a dedicated type of technology. Rather, there are various immersive online modalities and metaverse environments as well as different technologies to allow users to engage with these different environments. See Eric Ravenscraft, What is the Metaverse Exactly?, Wired (June 15, 2023) ("[T]he term [metaverse] doesn't really refer to any one specific type of technology, but rather a broad (and often speculative) shift in how we interact with technology.") [hereinafter Wired Metaverse].
- 3 Swaptik Chowdhury and Timothy Marler, *The Metaverse:* What It Is and Is Not, Rand (June 20, 2022) ("[I]n Meta's announcement, they defined the metaverse as 'an embodied internet where you are in the experience, not just looking at it.' Similarly, Microsoft described its enterprise metaverse as being '...made up of digital twins, simulated environments, and mixed reality.").
- 4 "Metaverse," Merriam-Webster Dictionary; What is the Metaverse?, McKinsey & Company [hereinafter McKinsey What is the Metaverse?].
- 5 Wired Metaverse.
- 6 lvy K. Lau, <u>Metaverse and Money</u>, PayPal Newsroom (June 5, 2023) [hereinafter *PayPal Metaverse and Money*].
- 7 Metaverse May be \$800 Billion Market, Net Tech Platform, Bloomberg Professional Services (Dec. 1, 2021).
- 8 Aywan Awada, <u>The Metaverse Revolution: How Banks Can Tap Into a \$860 Billion Market</u>, EY (Apr. 26, 2023) [hereinafter Metaverse Revolution].

- 9 Martin Armstrong, <u>This Chart Shows How Big the Metaverse</u> <u>Market Could Become</u>, World Economic Forum (Feb. 7 2023).
- 10 FINRA Investor Education Foundation, <u>Investors in the United States: The Changing Landscape</u> (Dec. 9, 2022); <u>Metaverse Revolution</u>.
- 11 Reza Akhlaghi, *Banking and its Inroad into Financial Markets*, Coindesk (June 8, 2023).
- 12 Digital Regulation Cooperation Forum (DRCF), Immersive Technologies Foresight Paper (Dec. 2023) (noting that the DRCF, a collaboration of regulators in the United Kingdom, is exploring the transformative potential of immersive technologies and is considering related regulatory implications); Carlos Cantu, Cecilia Franco, and Jon Frost, The Economic Implications of Services in the Metaverse, Bank for International Settlements (BIS) Papers No. 144 (Feb. 2024).
- 13 See Request for Comments section of this paper.
- 14 J.P. Morgan, *Opportunities in the Metaverse* (2022) [hereinafter *J.P. Morgan Metaverse*].
- 15 World Economic Forum, <u>Metaverse Privacy and Safety</u> (July 2023).
- 16 World Economic Forum, <u>Interoperability in the Metaverse</u> (Jan. 2023).
- 17 See, e.g., Cathy Hackl, <u>Defining the Metaverse Today</u>, Forbes (May 2, 2021).
- 18 Oliver Wyman, *Reckoning with the Metaverse: A Primer on the Metaverse and NFTs* (2022).
- 19 Jackie Wiles, What Is a Metaverse? And Should You Be Buying In2, Gartner (Oct. 21, 2022).
- 20 McKinsey & Company, <u>Value Creation in the Metaverse</u> (June 2022) [hereinafter McKinsey Value Creation Metaverse]. Given that these figures are reported from 2022, the numbers have likely increased.
- 21 Bloomberg Intelligence Podcast, <u>Developments, Investments & Experiences in the Metaverse: Into the Metaverse</u> (Nov. 2021).
- 22 Allison Murray, High Fidelity Invests in Second Life to Expand Virtual World, Zdnet.com (Jan.13, 2022). For some, Second Life was among the original metaverse environments created. Johnny Wood, Second Life: What This 20-Year-Old Virtual World Can Tell Us About the Future of the Metaverse, World Economic Forum (Oct. 13, 2023).
- 23 XR Association (XRA), *Reality Check: Why the US Government Should Nurture XR Development*.
- 24 McKinsey Value Creation Metaverse; Michael Dimock, <u>Defining Generations: Where Millennials End and Generation Z Begins</u>, Pew Research Center (Jan. 17, 2019) ("Anyone born between 1981 and 1996 . . . is considered a Millennial, and anyone born from 1997 onward is part of a new generation.").

- 25 Daily Active Users (DAU) of Roblox Games Worldwide From 4th Quarter 2018 to 1st Quarter 2024, Statista (July 2024).
- 26 McKinsey Value Creation Metaverse.
- 27 Kris Kolo, *From Gamification to the Metaverse: 7 New Ways to Engage Your Audiences*, VR/AR Association (July 7, 2023).
- 28 Brooke Auxier and Jana Arbanas, While We Wait for the Metaverse to Materialize, Young People are Already There, Deloitte Insights (July 7, 2023).
- 29 McKinsey & Company, Marketing in the Metaverse: An Opportunity for Innovation and Experimentation (May 2022).
- 30 Lucy Maguire, <u>Alo Yoga Takes on Europe, Starting with the UK</u>, Vogue Business (Nov. 14, 2023); Quennie Wong, <u>Shopping in the Metaverse Could be More Fun Than You Think</u>, CNET (Mar. 23, 2022).
- 31 Razorfish Study Finds 52% of Gen Z Gamers Feel More Like Themselves in the Metaverse than in Real Life, Razorfish (April 2022).
- 32 Citi GPS, <u>Metaverse and Money</u> (Mar. 2022) [hereinafter Citi Metaverse and Money].
- 33 Overcoming the Technical Obstacles of the Metaverse, Landvault (November 2023).
- 34 J.P. Morgan Metaverse.
- 35 Gartner, What Is a Metaverse? And Should You Be Buying In?
- 36 McKinsey Value Creation Metaverse.
- 37 Janna Anderson and Lee Raine, <u>The Metaverse in 2040</u>, Pew Research Center (June 30, 2022).
- 38 Three Challenges the Metaverse Will Need to Overcome, Wired; Tim Cross, A Reality Check for the Metaverse is Coming, Time (Nov. 14, 2022).
- 39 David Karp, <u>The Role of Legal and Compliance in the Metaverse</u>, McKinsey & Company (June 26, 2023).
- 40 See, e.g., Vanguard, <u>Virtually Immersive</u>; Press Release, Fidelity Opens "The Fidelity Stack" in Decentraland; Becomes First Brokerage Firm with Immersive Educational Metaverse Experience, Fidelity (Apr. 21, 2022) [hereinafter Fidelity Stack in Decentraland].
- 41 Wired Metaverse ("Broadly speaking, the technologies companies refer to when they talk about "the metaverse" can include virtual reality. . . as well as augmented reality that combines aspects of the digital and physical worlds. However, it doesn't require that those spaces be exclusively accessed via VR or AR. Virtual worlds—such as aspects of Fortnite that can be accessed through PCs, game consoles, and even phones—have started referring to themselves as 'the metaverse.").
- 42 See e.g., Ben Strack, <u>Fidelity Doubles Down on Metaverse With Financial Literacy Experience</u>, Blockworks (Apr. 27, 2023) [hereinafter *Blockworks Fidelity*]; Sia Partners, <u>Enter the Metaverse</u>.

- 43 PWC, Data Visualization in the Metaverse (July 2023).
- 44 Jakki Bailey, Working Paper, <u>Presence and Memory: Immersive Virtual Reality Effects on Cued Recall</u>, Stanford University, Virtual Human Interaction Lab (2012).
- 45 Jason Gewirtz, How Virtual Reality Will Change Trading for Pros and Everyone Else, CNBC (Aug. 8, 2021). Ambient communication (e.g., color coding and sizing data) is also seen as a potential way to efficiently convey information to traders at a glance, without overwhelming them with too much explicit detail. Neil Barbour, Chip Designer MediaTek Looking Past Metaverse to "Ambient Era" of Computing, S&P Global Market Intelligence (May 15, 2023); Condeco Software, What is Ambient Computing? (May 15, 2023).
- 46 See, e.g., Futures Industry Association (FIA), Flextrade Unveils Augmented Reality Headset, FIA Market Voice (June 8, 2017).
- 47 <u>Citi Taps Microsoft Hololens for Virtual Reality Trading</u>, Finextra (Apr. 7, 2016).
- 48 Id.
- 49 As digital representations, the digital twins may represent a differing set of rights and obligations in comparison to the physical objects. Christy Pettey, *Prepare for the Impact of Digital Twins*, Gartner (Sept. 8, 2017).
- 50 McKinsey & Company, <u>Digital Twins: The Foundation of the Enterprise Metaverse</u> (Oct. 2022); Siemens Advanta, <u>Digital Twins and Industrial Metaverse</u>.
- 51 Peter Smulovics, <u>Emerging Technologies SIG Series What is Digital Twinning?</u>, Dotneteers (Feb. 20, 2023) [hereinafter <u>Emerging Technologies Digital Twinning</u>].
- 52 The Increasing Potential and Challenges of Digital Twins,
  Nature Computational Science (Mar. 26, 2024) (noting
  that the term "digital twin" was first coined as part of the
  National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA)'s
  Apollo 13 mission more than 50 years ago); Emerging
  Technologies Digital Twinning.
- 53 Bob Violino, *Digital Twins Are Set for Rapid Adoption in 2023*, CNBC (Jan. 21, 2023) [hereinafter *CNBC Digital Twins*]. *See also* Bernard Marr, *Digital Twins, Generative AI, and the Metaverse*, Forbes (May 23, 2023) ("When you connect [3D simulated environments] with natural language and AI-based tools, you can literally ask ... 'hey computer, what's happening on the shop floor?' or 'What are the top three issues I need to be paying attention to right now?"").
- 54 CNBC Digital Twins.
- 55 Thor Olavsrud, <u>Digital Twins: 5 Success Stories</u>, CIO (Aug. 5, 2022)
- 56 *Id.*; Patrick Kulp, *Why the NYSE Built a Virtual Replica of its Trading Floor for IPO Events*, Tech Brew (Aug. 30, 2022).
- 57 Samantha Barnes, *Digital Twins: Future Drivers of Smarter Decision-Making*, International Banker (Jan. 18, 2022).

- 58 PayPal Metaverse and Money ("Most metaverse users have purchased games (81 percent), music (69 percent) and video entertainment (69 percent). Almost half say they have purchased artwork. Two-thirds have purchased skins and clothing.").
- 59 Id.
- 60 Id.
- 61 Id.
- 62 *Id.* ("[M]etaverse users use crypto much more widely than e-commerce shoppers, suggesting an appetite for innovation. . . . [m]ore than half of metaverse users (56 percent) expect their use of crypto to increase in the next 5 years. A very high percentage of respondents say it is important to be able to use cryptocurrencies (89 percent) and stablecoins (84 percent) for purchases in the metaverse.").
- 63 Roblox Looks to Capture Network Effects From AI, Metaverse Headsets, Pymnts (Feb. 7, 2024) [hereinafter Roblox Network Effects]; Roblox, Roblox Terms of Use (Mar. 22, 2024).
- 64 Roblox Network Effects.
- 65 Decentraland, Marketplace; Guneet Kaur, A Beginner's Guide to Buying Virtual Real Estate in Decentraland (MANA), CoinTelegraph (Mar. 6, 2024); The Sandbox, Welcome to the NFT Marketplace; The Sandbox, Buying, Selling and Renting LAND Frequently Asked Questions.
- 66 The Sandbox, Sand.
- 67 Marco Qurioz-Gutierrex, *This Week in the Metaverse: The Sandbox and Decentraland are Caught in the SEC's Crosshairs*, Yahoo! Finance (June 10, 2023).
- 68 Lucy Colback, *The Rise of the Platform Economy*, Financial Times (Mar. 13, 2023).
- 69 Dan Raju, *How Embedded Investing is Overhauling the Way We Invest*, Nasdaq (Jan. 27, 2021).
- 70 McAfee, What is a Data Broker? (Apr. 4, 2022).
- 71 Justin Sherman, Examining Data Broker Equifax's Relationships With Millions of Employers, Duke University, Sanford School of Public Policy (Aug. 24, 2022); LexisNexis, Know Your Customer and Due Diligence Solutions.
- 72 PWC, What Does Virtual Reality and the Metaverse Mean for Training? [hereinafter PWC Metaverse Training].
- 73 Id.
- 74 Taehyun Kim, *Theory-Driven Design in Metaverse Virtual Reality Learning Environments: Two Illustrative Cases*, Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE) Transactions on Learning Technologies (Dec. 2023); Robb Lindgren et al., *Enhancing Learning and Engagement Through Embodied Interaction Within a Mixed Reality Simulation*, Computers & Education (2016).

- 75 Verizon, <u>Immersive Virtual Reality Training</u>; Jeremy Bailenson, <u>Is VR the Future of Corporate Training</u>, Harvard Business Review (Sept. 18, 2020).
- 76 Bank of America, Press Release, <u>Bank of America is First in Industry to Launch Virtual Reality Training Program in Nearly 4,300 Financial Centers</u> (Oct. 7, 2021). With respect to collaboration, Microsoft researchers have indicated that avatars in the metaverse can bring colleagues "one step closer to making people feel like they're together even when they are physically apart." Microsoft, <u>Great Expectations: Making Hybrid Work Work</u>, Work Trend Index Annual Report (Mar. 16, 2022).
- 77 PWC Metaverse Training.
- 78 Citi Metaverse and Money.
- 79 Id.
- 80 Id.
- 81 Paddy Hirsch, The Case for Financial Literacy Education, NPR (May 16, 2023); Allison Schrager, Are Financial Literacy. Programs a Waste of Time?, QZ (Oct. 21, 2018); Annamaria Lusardi and Olivia S. Mitchell, The Economic Importance of Financial Literacy: Theory and Evidence, National Bureau of Economic Research, Working Paper 18952 (Apr. 2013); Annamaria Lusardi and Olivia S. Mitchell, The Importance of Financial Literacy: Opening a New Field, National Bureau of Economic Research, Working Paper 31145 (Apr. 2023).
- 82 Ann Carns, *More States Now Require Financial Literacy Classes in High Schools*, The New York Times (Dec. 1, 2023).
- 83 How Brands Are Plugging Into the Emergent Metaverse, Wired (2024).
- 84 How the Metaverse Can Help With Financial Education: Part 1, Financial Technology Solutions International (FTSI) (2022); How the Metaverse Can Help With Financial Education: Part 2, Financial Technology Solutions International (FTSI) (2022).
- 85 Fidelity Brings Gamified Education to the Metaverse, Finextra (Apr. 27, 2022) ("The next generation seeks out financial education in all the places they spend time, whether physical or virtual. We're committed to serve customers in these decentralized communities as they transform and grow."); David Penn, <u>The Fidelity Stack</u>, Finovate (Apr. 27, 2022).
- 86 Fidelity, Press Release, Fidelity<sup>®</sup> Strengthens Commitment to Educating the Next Generation With First-Ever Roblox Experience and New Metaverse Build (Apr. 27, 2023) [hereinafter Fidelity Roblox]; Blockworks Fidelity
- 87 Fidelity Roblox.
- 88 *Id*.

- 89 A virtual concert of a prominent artist in April 2020 attracted over 45 million people. Arda Orcal, *Billboard: Travis Scott's Astronomical Drew More Than 45 Million Viewers*, ESPN (July 24, 2020); Tom, Regan, *From 'Fortnite' to 'Roblox': The Best In-Game Concerts Ever, Ranked* (Aug. 20, 2021); FC Barcelona, *Barça Vision, the platform with content about the new Digital Espai Barça*, (June 19, 2023); *Metaverse Fashion Week*.
- 90 Sophie Kinderlin, *Banking in the Metaverse? A.I. Could be About to Change the Way You Manage Your Money*, CNBC (May 2, 2023).
- 91 Prominent banks and brokerage firms in Asia have established virtual branches to offer financial services to their customers. Reza Akhlaghi, *Banks Have Come to the Metaverse*, Coindesk (June 8, 2023); Leah Golob, *Canada's Big Banks Head Into the Metaverse*, Financial Post (May 19, 2023); *McKinsey Value Creation in the Metaverse*.
- 92 Eliza Gkritsi, HSBC Enters the Metaverse Through Partnership With The Sandbox, CoinDesk (Mar. 16, 2022); The Sandbox, Press Release, HSBC to Become the First Global Financial Services Provider to Enter The Sandbox (Mar. 16, 2022); Fidelity Stack in Decentraland ("The next generation seeks out financial education in all the places they spend time, whether physical or virtual. We're committed to serve customers in these decentralized communities as they transform and grow."); Ian Allison, JPMorgan Is the First Bank Into the Metaverse, Looks at Business Opportunities, CoinDesk (Feb. 15, 2022).
- 93 Fidelity Stack in Decentraland.
- 94 Jonathan Vanian, Amazon and Fidelity Labs Collaborated on a Virtual Reality Financial Agent, Yahoo! News (May 15, 2018).
- 95 Citi Metaverse and Money.
- 96 Chris Arkenberg and Jana Arbanas, *What Does it Take to Runa Metaverse?*, Deloitte Insights (Feb. 20, 2023).
- 97 Roberto Hernandez et al., <u>PWC 2022 US Metaverse Survey</u> [hereinafter <u>PWC Metaverse Survey</u>].
- 98 World Economic Forum, <u>Metaverse Privacy and Safety</u> (July 2023); Citi Metaverse and Money.
- 99 Gia Snape, *Metaverse Risks: How Organizations Can Prepare*, Insurance Business (Jan. 20, 2023).
- 100 Interpol, A Law Enforcement Perspective (Jan. 2024).
- 101 FINRA, 2024 FINRA Annual Regulatory Oversight Report, Cybersecurity and Technology Management (Jan. 9, 2024); U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, Cybersecurity.
- 102 PWC Metaverse Survey.
- 103 Cyber Considerations for the Metaverse, KPMG (2022).
- 104 James Hunt, <u>Decentralization in the Metaverse: Who is in Control?</u>, The Block (Oct. 19, 2023).
- 105 McKinsey Value Creation Metaverse.

- 106 See, e.g., FINRA Rule 2210 (Communications with the Public); FINRA Rule 3110 (Supervision); FINRA Rule 3120 (Supervisory Control System); FINRA Rule 4511 (General Requirements); FINRA Rule 4530 (Reporting Requirements); Securities Exchange Act (SEA) Rule 17a-4 (Records to be preserved by certain exchange members, brokers and dealers); SEA Regulation S-P (Privacy of Consumer Financial Information and Safeguarding Personal Information); and SEA Regulation S-ID (Identity Theft Red Flags).
- 107 See FINRA's Interpretive Questions page.
- 108 Parties should submit in their comments only personally identifiable information, such as phone numbers and addresses, that they wish to make available publicly. FINRA, however, reserves the right to redact or edit personally identifiable information from comment submissions. FINRA also reserves the right to redact, remove or decline to post comments that are inappropriate for publication, such as vulgar, abusive or potentially fraudulent comment letters.